
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------x   
    
JOAN M. HOYT,        
    Plaintiff,     
  v.       COMPLAINT 
LAW SCHOOL ADMISSION COUNCIL, 
         Civ. No.:   
            
    Defendant.   
---------------------------------------------------------------------------x 
 
 Plaintiff JOAN M. HOYT (hereinafter “Plaintiff” or “Plaintiff Hoyt”) brings this 

complaint against the Defendants, Law School Admissions Council (hereinafter “the LSAC” or 

“Defendant”), seeking injunctive and declaratory relief, and alleges as follows: 

 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is an action for injunctive, monetary and declaratory relief against the Defendant, 

based on its discriminatory conduct against Plaintiff, a person with disabilities protected by the 

Americans with Disabilities Act (hereinafter “ADA”).  Plaintiff is currently registered to take the 

October 5, 2013 Law School Admissions Test (hereinafter "LSAT").  She previously registered 

for the February 2013 and June 2013 LSAT examinations. In connection with each of these 

examinations, she requested that she be provided with testing modifications and auxiliary aids 

and services (hereinafter collectively “testing accommodations”), more particularly, 100% 

extended testing time (also referred to as “double time”) on all sections of the LSAT, a 

distraction-reduced environment, including the use of a “white noise” machine, that she be 

allowed to use a computer for the written portion of the exam and to bring food and drink into 

the exam.  These test accommodations are necessary in order the make the Bar Examination 
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accessible to Plaintiff because of her disabilities, which substantially limit one or more of her 

major life activities, including, but not limited to, impairments in the condition, manner and 

duration in which she learns, reads, writes, concentrates, thinks and learns.  She was deterred 

from sitting for the February and June 2013 administrations of the LSAT because of the lack of 

sufficient testing accommodations.                   

2. Defendant has discriminated against Plaintiff by its failure to provide  testing 

modifications necessary to best ensure equal access to the LSAT in violation of the Americans 

with Disabilities Act, as amended (hereinafter “ADA”), 42 U.S.C. §12101, et seq.  Immediate 

and permanent injunctive relief is necessary to ensure that Plaintiff is no longer excluded from, 

deterred from or otherwise discriminated against in taking the LSAT. 

3. Plaintiff has submitted to the LSAC extensive documentation of her disabilities and 

entitlement to such testing accommodations as required by the LSAC’s procedures and policies 

for requesting such testing accommodations.  The LSAC has failed to provide Plaintiff with the 

accommodations she has requested and which her health care professionals have recommended 

to make the LSAT accessible to her.  Plaintiff brings this action to enforce her rights to equal 

access to the LSAT under the ADA. 

4. The Defendant prepares and administers the LSAT, a standardized admissions exam 

which is a prerequisite for entrance to most law schools in the United States.  The LSAC has the 

legal obligation to offer testing accommodations to individuals with disabilities taking the LSAT.  

Such accommodations, which are neither expensive nor difficult to provide, allow individuals 

with disabilities, like Plaintiff, to demonstrate their real aptitude and skill on such examination.  
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JURISDICTION 

5. These claims arise under the ADA and this Court has subject matter jurisdiction based on 

a federal question under 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1343(a)(4).  This Court also has jurisdiction 

pursuant to: (1) 42 U.S. C. § 2000a, providing for civil actions in this Court by any person 

subjected to discrimination on the basis of disability in violation of Title III of the ADA and (2) 

28 U.S.C. § 1343 for any civil rights action authorized by law.  

6. This Court has jurisdiction to issue a declaratory judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§2201(a) and further relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2202. 

7. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of Missouri pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391, in that 

acts of discrimination have taken place in this District and Plaintiff resides within this District. 

 

PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff, a resident of Saint Louis Missouri, is a 61 year old woman who recently 

graduated from the University of Missouri, Saint Louis.  She was formally diagnosed with 

learning and attention disabilities in 2012.  Yet the sorts of limitations that have been identified 

by cognitive and clinical assessment have manifested themselves in many aspects of her life for 

many years. 

9. Plaintiff has also been treated for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD) for over 10 years. 

She is a person with a disability under the ADA and is entitled to the testing accommodations 

she seeks on the LSAT.   

10. Plaintiff’s impairments substantially limit her in the performance of numerous major life 

activities including, but not limited to, reading, writing, concentrating, thinking, and learning, as 

well as major bodily functions including the operations of brain and neurological functions. 
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11. Defendant is a multi-million dollar private not-for-profit corporation, incorporated in the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, with its principal office in Newtown, Pennsylvania.  Defendant 

prepares and administers the LSAT, the professional examination currently required for 

admission to all accredited law schools.  Defendant offers examinations related to post-

secondary education and as such is subject to the non-discrimination and testing accommodation 

requirements of the ADA. 

 

The LSAT Examination 

12. The LSAT is a standardized test required for admission to all ABA approved law schools, 

most Canadian law schools, and many non-ABA approved law schools. 

13. The LSAT purports to be a standard measure of acquired reading and verbal reasoning 

skills that are considered essential for success in law school. 

14. The LSAC asserts that the LSAT is the only common measure by which the ability of all 

prospective law students can be measured fairly.   

15. The LSAT consists of five 35 minute sections of multiple choice questions. Four of the 

five sections contribute to the test takers score.  Each section consists of twenty-three to twenty-

seven questions.   A thirty-five minute writing sample is also administered which LSAC does not 

score but provides copies to the law school to where the test taker applies. 

16. The multiple choice questions fall into three categories of question types which are 

labeled as follows: 

a. “Reading comprehension” questions which the LSAT asserts measures one’s 

ability to read with understanding and insight.  The section contains four highly complex 
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reading passages containing approximately 55 to 65 lines of text followed by five to eight 

questions about each passage.   

b. “Analytical reasoning” questions for which multiple choice answers are based on 

a set of statements, rules or conditions that describe relationships among entities such as 

persons, places, things or events.  This section often referred to as “logic games,” 

typically contains four short written passages followed by five to seven questions about 

each passage.  

c. “Logical reasoning” questions are included in two sections of the LSAT. Each 

logical reading question requires the test taker to read a short passage then answer one 

question about the passage. 

17. The LSAT is administered four times a year.  While many law schools require that the 

test be taken by December in order to gain admission for the following fall, the LSAC and many 

law schools advise to take the LSAT in June or October.  Plaintiff was deterred from taking the 

June 2013 LSAT because the test modifications offered were insufficient to accommodate her 

disabilities.  

18. If Plaintiff does not take the LSAT with test modifications that ensure her access to the 

LSAT, she will be irreparably harmed because she will lose the extensive time she has invested 

in preparation for the LSAT; she will be prevented from competing on a level playing field with 

other candidates sitting for the LSAT; and she will be delayed or prevented from proceeding 

with her application to law school. Further, Plaintiff’s professional opportunities will be severely 

curtailed.  

19. The accommodations requested by Plaintiff, including 100% extended test time on all 

sections and the use of a computer with spell check for the essay section on the LSAT, are the 
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type of accommodations that have been granted to other test-takers with disabilities in prior 

administrations of the LSAT and would not fundamentally alter the test.  

20. Plaintiff is and will continue to be significantly harmed by Defendant’s refusal to offer 

her the accommodations so as to best ensure that the test results reflect that which the test is 

designed to measure rather than Plaintiff’s cognitive disability. 

 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

21. Plaintiff has been treated for Generalized Anxiety Disorder for more than a decade.. In 

2009, when she returned to postsecondary education with the goal of attending law school, 

Plaintiff experienced difficulties related to her anxiety as well as difficulties reading and writing 

that she recalled experiencing in elementary school, at least as early as fourth grade. These 

difficulties made it impossible for her to get through even a third of a written exam in college.   

22. She was referred to the disability services office at her college, to whom her psychiatrist 

submitted confirmation of her anxiety disorder and her need for accommodations, including 

double time on exams and assignments. Her request for accommodations was approved by the 

Director of Disability Services at the University of Missouri-St. Louis (UMSL).  She was later 

referred to a neuropsychologist and evaluated to determine whether she also experienced 

cognitive processing problems underlying reading and writing.  

23. For the remainder of her college studies, Plaintiff was provided accommodations, 

including double time on all tests, testing in a separate room, the use of a computer for all essay 

type questions, scrap paper on which to organize her thoughts and the opportunity to have food 

and drink during testing in order to compensate for various impacts of her disabilities, including, 
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but not limited to impairments in the condition, manner and duration in which she learns, reads, 

writes, concentrates, thinks and learns.   

24. Jim Russell, Ph.D., a seasoned practitioner with nearly 20 years of experience assessing 

individuals with learning and psychological disabilities, conducted a comprehensive cognitive 

evaluation of Ms. Hoyt, dated November 29, 2012.  It shows that Ms. Hoyt has Generalized 

Anxiety Disorder (GAD), learning and attention disabilities (Learning Disorder, NOS 

(processing speed deficits and reading fluency deficits)(DSM-IV-TR 315.9); Reading Disorder 

(DSM-IV-TR 315.00); Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder, Predominately Inattentive Type 

(ADHD) (DSM-IV-TR 314.00)) that restrict her ability to demonstrate what she knows in time 

limited test environments.  She is substantially limited in the major life activities of learning, 

reading, concentrating, thinking and learning and in the operations of the brain and cognitive 

functions.  

25.          Dr. Russell administered the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scales, Fourth Edition 

(WAIS-IV), which  showed that Plaintiff has high average to superior verbal intelligence, but 

extremely slow processing speed (8th percentile).  This dichotomy is not present in people 

without learning disorders and interferes with Plaintiff’s ability to demonstrate her knowledge on 

time constrained examinations. 

26. The results of testing show the need for double the allotted time, in order to allow her to 

“comprehend what she is reading and to demonstrate what she knows.”   

27. Plaintiff continues to experience learning, attention and anxiety disorders and their 

resulting difficulties to this day.  Where most people do not experience discrete processing 

deficits inconsistent with their intellectual abilities or “expectation,” Plaintiff’s unexpected 
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difficulties learning, reading, concentrating and thinking are accepted by professionals in 

academia and clinical psychologists and neuropsychologists as hallmarks of learning disabilities. 

28. When she reads, Plaintiff uses a finger or index card to keep her place.  She often has to 

re-read passages when she sees words that seem out of context.  She also has to “sub-vocalize,” 

or murmur aloud to herself on order to keep her focused on what she is reading. 

29. She often outlines, highlights and underlines, then later goes back and develops flash 

cards of the content in order to study.  She is easily distracted by many outside noises.  As a 

result, she usually studies as night, when there are fewer noise distractions.  She also takes 

frequent breaks when studying in order to be able to remain on task.  

30. When writing, Plaintiff often forms the wrong letters and has to pay deliberate, focused 

attention in order to write accurately, which is extremely time-consuming. Unlike most people 

for whom the process of forming letters and words is unconscious and automatic, for Plaintiff it 

is laborious, conscious and deliberate. 

31. Plaintiff often finds mistakes in things she has written days ago. This happens with 

reading and listening tasks as well, and adds to the time required to complete them. Without a 

computer, she not only proceeds extremely slowly, but is less concise in her composition. 

32.  She reads about two and one half times slower than her peers, so she has particular 

problems with exams like the LSAT, which is designed for an even faster reading speed than 

average.  Her reading speed, for example, has been assessed at the 2nd percentile on a timed 

reading comprehension test. She therefore needs double time in order to perform at a level that 

somewhat approaches a reflection of her abilities. 
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33.  Dr. Russell noted that the inattentive symptoms that Ms. Hoyt experiences result from 

her having both ADHD and GAD and that she has more trouble than most people in sustaining 

her attention.  

34.        Learning Disabilities, ADHD and GAD combine to necessitate that Plaintiff work much 

harder than most people need to work in order to demonstrate what she knows, which is very 

mentally draining and time consuming for her.  Thus, the requested accommodations are needed 

and denying them in the context of the LSAT is discriminatory. 

35. By application dated December 12, 2012, Plaintiff registered to sit for the February 2013 

administration of the LSAT and timely submitted to the LSAC a request for testing 

accommodations in the basis of anxiety, learning and attention disabilities for the February 

examination.  The documentation submitted included the following: 

 a. A Cognitive Evaluation by Jim Russell, Ph.D., dated November 20, 2012; 

b. A letter from University of Missouri, Saint Louis' Director of Disability Access 

Services; 

c. An LSAC Evaluator Form completed by Dr. Russell; and  

d. An undated cover letter explaining her circumstances including her having 

completed high school five years before the first special education statute (the Education 

for All Handicapped Children Act, passed in 1975); 

36. The documentation listed above substantially complies with the LSAC’s written policy 

regarding learning disability accommodations, i.e., the LSAC Guidelines for Documentation of 

Cognitive Impairments (hereinafter referred to as “LSAC Guidelines”).   

37. By letter dated January 7, 2012, the LSAC requested “copies of past psychoeducational/ 

neuropsychological assessments reports to include all scores from all tests administered for 
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historical information,” and noted that the receipt deadline for the requested information had 

passed for the February 2013 LSAT. According to the LSAC’s website, the deadline was 

actually January 8, 2013.  

38. Thereafter, Defendant challenged the basis on which the University had provided 

accommodations to Plaintiff, which Plaintiff promptly addressed to no avail.  

39. Plaintiff did not take the February 2013 LSAT because she cannot take the test on a level 

playing field without the accommodations she needs.  

40. By letter from her attorney dated May 6, 2013, Plaintiff submitted an appeal of the denial, 

including the following additional documents:   

a. A Personal Declaration of Joan Hoyt dated April 17, 2013;  

b. A Personal statement of Plaintiff’s husband Richard Hoyt, dated April 20, 2013; 

c. An Addendum to Dr.'s 2012 Cognitive Evaluation, dated April 5, 2013; 

d. A Cover letter by Dr. Russell dated April 9, 2013 appending the results of his 

administration of the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory-2 (MMPI-2) 

administered on January 17, 2013; 

e. The scores from three LSAT practice exams; one without extended time (LSAT 

score of 138) and two with 100% extended time and demonstrating a significant gain 

when double time was used (LSAT scores of 167 and 169); 

41. By letter dated May 20, 2013 LSAC informed Plaintiff Hoyt that her request for testing 

accommodations would be granted in part and denied in part, in that she would only be provided 

with 26 additional minutes (75% more time) on the multiple choice sections of the LSAT, but 

was denied any extended time for the (ungraded) essay section.  
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42.          The LSAC’s denial letter relied on several inaccuracies in interpretation of the test 

sores.  

43.          In a series of subsequent communications between Plaintiff’s counsel and the LSAC, 

Plaintiff appealed the partial denial.   

44. By letter dated August 23, 2013, the LSAC indicated it would provide 26 additional 

minutes (75% additional time) for the essay section as well.   

45. Since the LSAC’s offer of 75% additional time, Plaintiff has taken a practice exam with 

75% additional time, scoring a 154 and completing only 18 of 27 items in the Reading 

Comprehension section, 21 of 26 items and 21 of 25 items in the two Logical Reasoning 

sections, and 16 of 23 items in the Analytic Reasoning a/k/a “Logic Games” section.  Plaintiff 

alleges that she needs at least double time and that Defendant’s reason for denial is arbitrary and 

not based on the evidence submitted; hence it violates the ADA and the applicable regulations.   

46. Defendant’s denial of Plaintiff’s reasonable request for accommodations is arbitrary, 

without basis in fact or in law, and is deliberately indifferent to Plaintiff’s rights under the 

applicable laws and regulations.  Providing double time to Plaintiff would not give her an unfair 

advantage.  The LSAC has done so for others.   

 

FIRST CLAIM 
(Violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 et seq.) 

 
47. Plaintiff Hoyt hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 46 of this 

Complaint as set forth herein. 

48. Plaintiff Hoyt is a person with a disability in that she experiences a physical or mental 

impairment, which substantially limits one or more major life activities, including but not limited 

to, reading, writing, concentrating, learning and working, as well as brain and neurological 
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functions. 42 U.S.C. § 12102 (2)(B). Because of her impairment she needs test accommodations 

on the LSAT. 

49. Plaintiff meets all the eligibility criteria for taking the LSAT.  

50. Plaintiff’s disabilities lie in seriously impaired processing speed and phonological 

processing, as well as deficiencies in concentration and the ability to organize her thoughts to 

produce them in writing (whether on paper or on computer). All the evidence submitted fully 

supports the request for double extended time on all sections of the LSAT. Her clinician has 

opined that the effect of an insufficient amount of time would increase her anxiety and fatigue 

and cause deterioration of concentration, attention and processing speed. 

51. In amending the ADA in 2008, Congress mandated that the Equal Employment 

Opportunity Commission (EEOC) issue regulations restoring the applicability of the ADA’s 

protections to those Congress originally intended to protect. 42 U.S.C. §12010(b)(6).  

52. Those regulations provide that “[t]he primary purpose of the ADAAA is to make it easier 

for people with disabilities to obtain protection under the ADA. Consistent with the Amendments 

Act’s purpose of reinstating a broad scope of protection under the ADA, the definition of 

‘‘disability’’ in this part shall be construed broadly in favor of expansive coverage to the 

maximum extent permitted . . .” 28 U.S.C. §1630.1(c)(4). 

53. The ADA amendments expressly rejected earlier case law because previous judicial 

interpretations of what constituted a disability had created an inappropriately high level of 

limitation necessary to obtain coverage. 42 U.S.C. § 12102(4)(B) (incorporating findings and 

purposes of the ADAAA). 

54. ADA regulations state “it may be useful in appropriate cases to consider, as compared to 

most people in the general population, the condition under which the individual performs the 
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major life activity; the manner in which the individual performs the major life activity; and/or the 

duration of time it takes the individual to perform the major life activity...” 29 C.F.R. § 

1630(j)(4)(ix).  

55. ADA regulatory guidance further states:  

This does not mean that disability cannot be shown where an 
impairment, such as a learning disability, is clinically diagnosed based 
in part on a disparity between an individual’s aptitude and that 
individual’s actual versus expected achievement, taking into account 
the person’s chronological age, measured intelligence, and age-
appropriate education. Individuals diagnosed with dyslexia or other 
learning disabilities will typically be substantially limited in 
performing activities such as learning, reading, and thinking when 
compared to most people in the general population. . . 76 Fed Reg. 
17009 (March 25, 2011). 
 

56. Thus, according to the guidance  

“someone with a learning disability may achieve a high level of 
academic success, but may nevertheless be substantially limited in 
the major life activity of learning because of the additional time or 
effort he or she must spend to read, write, or learn compared to 
most people in the general population. As Congress emphasized in 
passing the Amendments Act, ‘‘[w]hen considering the condition, 
manner, or duration in which an individual with a specific learning 
disability performs a major life activity, it is critical to reject the 
assumption that an individual who has performed well 
academically cannot be substantially limited in activities such as 
learning, reading, writing, thinking, or speaking. 2008 Senate 
Statement of Managers at 8.”  Id. at 17012 . 

 

57. Title III of the ADA, which is enforced by the U.S. Department of Justice (hereinafter 

referred to as “the Department”), states in part, “It is discriminatory to fail to make reasonable 

modifications to policies, practices and procedures when necessary to provide goods and services 

to a person with a disability.”  42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(2)(A)(ii). 
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58. Title III regulations specifically provide that accommodating an individual with a 

disability may require the testing entity to change the length of the time for an exam and/or the 

manner in which the examination is given.  28 C.F.R. §36.309 (b) (iii) (2). 

59. Defendant LSAC administers the LSAT, an examination related to applications and 

credentialing for postsecondary education, professional, and trade purposes, within the meaning 

of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12189. 

60. The ADA requires Defendant to offer these examinations in a manner accessible to 

persons with disabilities. 42 U.S.C. § 12189. 

75. Title III regulations mandate that a private entity offering examinations modify its 

examinations as necessary to best ensure full and equal access to persons with disabilities, 

including through the provision of extra testing time to permit completion. 28 C.F.R. §§ 

36.309(b) & (c). 

61. Title III regulations prohibit Defendant LSAC from administering the LSAT without 

ensuring that the scores reported “accurately reflect the applicant’s aptitude or achievement level 

or whatever other factor the test purports to measure, rather than reflecting the applicant’s 

[disability].” 28 C.F.R. § 36.309(b) (1) (i). 

62. Title III regulations prohibit an entity from requiring a burdensome level of proof from an 

individual with a disability to demonstrate protection by the Act or for needed accommodations.  

Rather documentation requested but be “reasonable and limited to the need for the modification, 

accommodation, or auxiliary aid or service requested,” and such entity must give “considerable 

weight to documentation of past modifications, accommodations, or auxiliary aids or services 

received in similar testing situations,” 28 C.F.R. §36.309 (b) (iv), (v). 
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63. Plaintiff Hoyt requires testing accommodations to participate in a fair, full, and equal 

basis on the LSAT.  The modifications that Plaintiff needs would not impose a fundamental 

alteration but rather, would level the field and allow her aptitude and abilities to be fairly and 

accurately measured. 

64. Regulatory guidance to Title III issued in September 2010 confirmed the Department’s 

long held interpretation that “when testing entities receive documentation provided by a qualified 

professional who has made an individualized assessment of an applicant that supports the need 

for the modification, accommodation, or aid requested, they shall generally accept such 

documentation and provide the accommodation.” 75 Fed. Reg. 56297 (September 15, 2010).  

65. The guidance also advises that  

The significance of a letter or other communication from a doctor 
or other qualified professional would depend on the professional’s 
relationship with the candidate and the specific content of the 
communication, as well as how the letter fits in with the totality of 
the other factors used to determine testing accommodations under 
this rule. Similarly, an applicant’s failure to provide results from a 
specific test or evaluation instrument should not of itself preclude 
approval of requests for modifications, accommodations, or aids if 
the documentation provided by the applicant, in its entirety, is 
sufficient to demonstrate that the individual has a disability and 
requires a requested modification, accommodation, or aid on the 
relevant examination. Id.  
 

66. The guidance further advises that “Reports from experts who have personal familiarity 

with the candidate should take precedence over those from, for example, reviewers for testing 

agencies, who have never personally met the candidate or conducted the requisite assessments 

for diagnosis and treatment.” Id.  

67. Defendant LSAC has thus discriminated, and continues to discriminate, against Plaintiff 

Hoyt on the basis of her disability by denying her an equal opportunity to demonstrate her 

aptitude and achievement on the LSAT in violation of the ADA, specifically 42 U.S.C. §12189. 
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68. Defendant LSAC’s policies and practices violate Plaintiff Hoyt’s rights under the ADA 

and the regulations promulgated thereunder. Defendant’s discriminatory policies and practices 

include, but are not limited to, its: 

a. Implicit failure to acknowledge that Plaintiff is protected by the Act, when it 

requested additional and more recent neuropsychological evidence of limitation after its 

own January 8, 2013 deadline for submission of additional information; 

b. Failure to give Plaintiff an equal opportunity to respond with additional evidence 

if she chose to do so within this testing cycle, because the LSAC’s deadline date for her 

submission of requests for accommodation, and for  submission of additional information 

and/or her appeal of denial was the same deadline date (January 8, 2013); 

c. Failure to grant accommodations when Plaintiff submitted the requisite 

documentation consistent in all respects with the LSAC’s own guidelines; 

d. Failure to give considerable weight to Plaintiff’s evaluator’s recommendations; 

e. Failure to provide an adequate explanation for the LSAC’s request for additional 

and/or more recent information; and 

f. Failure to engage in good faith in the interactive process to consider and 

implement effective testing accommodations for Plaintiff’s disability. 

69. Plaintiff Hoyt will be irreparably harmed if the LSAC continues its illegal refusal to 

provide her the test modifications specifically recommended by her clinicians, in that: 

a. Given her experience with practice LSAT examinations, without the double 

extended  time   she needs to have access to the LSAC, Plaintiff is justifiably concerned 

that she will not achieve an LSAT score which will enable her to be accepted by an 

accredited law school; 
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b. Plaintiff’s law school career will be placed on hold or forestalled because an 

adequate score on the LSAT is a prerequisite to the pursuit of a law school education; 

c. Requiring Plaintiff to take the LSAT without sufficient accommodation puts her 

at distinct disadvantage given her disability;  

d. Reduced performance on the LSAT as a result of not receiving the proper 

accommodations significantly reduces Plaintiff’s future professional career options, and  

e. Taking the LSAT without the test modifications requested would be a waste of 

Plaintiff’s time and money. 

 
70. As a result of the LSAC’s violation of the ADA, Plaintiff has suffered or will suffer great 

injury, including, but not limited to, lost employment opportunities, out-of-pocket pecuniary 

losses, and severe emotional distress and anguish. 

71. The LSAC’s conduct constitutes an ongoing and continuous violation of the ADA.  

Unless enjoined from doing so, Defendant will continue to violate said law.  Said conduct, unless 

enjoined, will continue to inflict injuries for which Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law.  

Consequently, Plaintiff is entitled to injunctive relief under the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12188. 

72. A present and actual controversy exists between Plaintiff Hoyt and Defendant LSAC 

concerning their rights and respective duties.  Plaintiff contends that Defendant LSAC violated 

and continues to violate her rights under the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended, 42 

U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and Defendant LSAC denies these allegations, thus declaratory relief is 

necessary and appropriate.  

73. Plaintiff Hoyt seeks a judicial declaration of the rights and duties of the respective parties 

accordingly. 

                         

Case: 4:13-cv-01736-TIA   Doc. #:  1   Filed: 09/04/13   Page: 17 of 18 PageID #: 17



18 
 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment as follows: 

A. An order compelling the LSAC, or those acting as agents for or in concert with it, to 

provide preliminary and permanent injunctive relief in the form of test accommodations to 

Plaintiff Hoyt, by providing her with accommodations on the October 2012 LSAT or any later 

administration of the examination, which shall include 100% extended time on all sections of the 

LSAT as well as the other accommodations which the LSAC has previously agreed to provide; 

B. An order requiring the LSAC to modify its policies, practices and procedures so as to 

give Plaintiff an equal opportunity to take the LSAT and to cease its practice of identifying the 

scores of those taking the LSAT with extended time accommodations to law schools, thus 

disclosing her disability status; 

C. An order granting declaratory relief; 

D. Enter judgment against the Defendant awarding Plaintiff Hoyt recovery of her reasonable 

attorney’s fees, costs and expenses pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §12188; and 

E.  An order granting such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper 

Dated: Saint Louis, MO 
            September 4, 2013   Respectfully submitted, 
 

            
    By:  /s/ Thomas E. Kennedy, III 

Thomas E. Kennedy, III (MOBar No. 46617) 
Law Offices of Thomas E. Kennedy III, L.C. 
906 Olive Street, Ste. 200 
St. Louis MO 63101 
Telephone: 314-872-9041  
Facsimile: 314-872-9043 
Email:  tkennedy@tkennedylaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff JOAN M. HOYT 
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